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Summary 

Jackson County, Arkansas 
County and State 

The Weldon Gin Company has a long history in Weldon and Jackson County, Arkansas. Alvin McDonald 
began ginning cotton in the area of Weldon in 1833. McDonald's efforts grew to become the Weldon Gin 
Company. The gin was the commercial center for this small, eastern Arkansas town. It was, and is currently, 
the only gin in the community. The gin complex consists of six contributing buildings and structures and one 
non-contributing building. 

Elaboration 

With a gin building built approximately 1939, the current Weldon Gin Company complex is a mixture of old 
and new structures. Weldon is a small town in southern Jackson County. It sits in the Mississippi River 
Delta between the White and Cache Rivers . The gin complex sits at the comer of Weldon Avenue and 
Washington Streets in the middle of the town of Weldon. The company operated in this same location for 
over a century with newer technologies and newer buildings replacing older to meet the needs of business. 
After the Rural Electrification Act brought electricity to Weldon in 1936 the old steam-powered, timber­
framed cotton gin was replaced with a modem, electrified, all steel cotton gin in 1939. 

Continental Ginning Company built the current gin and supplied all of the ginning equipment necessary for 
operation. The new gin sits on a reinforced concrete foundation and features all steel construction with steel 
casement windows. At the same time a refuse burner was installed on the east side of the site .to bum hulls, 
stems, and other debris . Two pre-existing buildings and one structure remained through the 1939 
reconstruction: a seed warehouse on the west side of the property, a cotton warehouse on the north side of the 
property, and a wagon shed also on the north side of the property. The White & Black River Valley Railway, 
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Chicago, Rock Island, & Pacific Railroad, ceased operations through 
Weldon in 1940 and abandoned the railroad in 1942. This forced the shipment of seed and finished cotton 
from the railroad to trucks. Therefore a seed loading hopper and tower was added north of the gin in the 
early 1940s for loading seed into open-topped truck trailers. There is only one non-contributing building, a 
metal shed used for a period, outside the period of significance, as the office. 

As acreage controls were removed and the amount of rice grown in Jackson County increased, it became 
more and more difficult for the Weldon Gin Company to gin enough cotton each year. By the early 1980s 
production reached about 1,000 bales per season. With operation no longer economically feasible, the cotton 
gin ceased operation. 
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Cotton Gin 

South Fai;ade/ Front 

Jackson County, Arkansas 
County and State 

The main gin building is an all steel building consisting of a steel frame and corrugated steel siding. The 
front elevation of this two and one-half story building is fenestrated by seven, six-over-three, hopper-style 
casement windows. Three of the windows are equally spaced on the west side of the fas;ade and four on the 

·east side of the fa<;ade . There are an additional four, six-pane stationary windows in the second story of the 
fas;ade. Additionally there are two doors in the elevation; one is a smaller three foot door and the second is 
two sliding doors centered on the scale at the unloading area. 

A large overhanging awning with combination shed and gable roof extends the length of the elevation and 
tected the unloading area from the elements. Centered on the building is the scale and pneumatic 

loading equipment. The scale rests in the ground along the center of the building. The combination of 
pipes and lifters used for unloading cotton is housed under an unusual, dual cross-gabled porch roof. 

East Fai;ade/ Side 

The east fas;ade is clad in corrugated steel and has two fenestrations. A wide sliding door provided 
equipment access into the interior of the gin. One four-over-two, hopper-style casement window provided 
light into the work space. Two pipes lead away from this fas;ade toward the refuse burner further toward the 
east. 

North Fai;ade/ Rear 

The north fa<;ade is fenestrated by several six-over-three, hopper-style casement windows in the second story. 
There is one three foot door allowing access to the rear of the building from inside. Additionally piping 
extends from the rear of the building to the seed loading hopper installed circa 1942. There is also a large 
diameter vent extending from the elevation on the first floor for exhaust air from the vacuum; blower, and 
dryer systems. 

West Fai;ade/ Side 

\ wide, shed-roofed awning at the first story extends the width of the building. This provided shelter for the 
loading dock that extends from this west side of the building. The elevation is fenestrated with two, six-pane 
stationary windows on the second floor and one six-pane stationary window on the first floor. A large sliding 
door provided access from the balers, housed on this end of the building, to the loading dock. 
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The loading dock is approximately two feet high and made completely of reinforced concrete. It features a 
simple I-beam crane and lifting system for loading finished bales of ginned cotton and unfinished bales of 
un-ginned cotton. 

Seed Warehouse 

South Fa~ade/ Side 

The seed warehouse is a frame structure sitting on brick piers. It pre-dates the 1939 gin building and was 
used to load railroad cars with seed for transport to the cotton oil mills. The south elevation has no 
fenestrations and is clad in wood lap siding. The roof is corrugated steel, cross gable. 

East Fa~ade/ Front 

This side is fenestrated by one wooden, four-foot door. The siding is lap siding. 

North Fa~ade/ Side 

Like the south fa9ade there are no fenestrations in the north elevation. 

West Fa~ade/ Rear 

The west fa;:ade faced a siding of the White and Black River Valley Railway. The side is fenestrated by 
three, four-foot doors equally spaced from the center of the elevation. The doors, mounted on the interior, 
are wooden and glide on iron trackwork. 

Cotton Warehouse 

South Fa~ade/ Side 

The cotton warehouse pre-dates the 1939 gin building. It was originally used primarily for storage of cotton 
prior to ginning. The building has a gabled roof covered with corrugated steel. It is a frame building sitting 
on brick piers. The south fa9ade has no openings and is clad in wood lap siding. 



Weldon Gin Company Historic District 
Name of Property 

ed States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet 
Section number 7 Page 4 ----

East Fai;ade/ Rear 

The east fac;:ade has no openings and is clad in wood, lap siding. 

North Fai;ade/ Side 

Jackson County, Arkansas 
County and State 

The north fac;:ade has no openings and is clad in corrugated steel with the lap siding intact underneath. 

West Fai;ade/ Front 

The west fac;:ade is fenestrated by a single door, centered on the building. The elevation is clad in wood, lap 
\ling. 

Wagon-Trailer Shed 

The wagon-trailer shed is a third structure that pre-dates the 1939 gin. It is simply a pole structure with 
gabled, corrugated steel roof. On the east and west ends is a frame wall with corrugated steel siding. This 
shed was used to store wagons and later trailers during the off season. During the harvesting season, loaded 
cotton wagons and trailers were stored in this shed to protect them from the rain. 

Refuse Burner 

The refuse burner sits to the east of the main gin building. It was constructed as part of the 1939 upgrade of 
the mill complex. The Industrial Burn-0-Matic was made by the Industrial Blow Pipe Company of 
Memphis, Tennessee. The burner is a cylindrical steel frame structure that sits on a concrete foundation. 
The exterior sheeting is welded steel. On top of the refuse burner is a fine steel grate to prevent cinders from 
blowing away and causing wildfires. There is a large diameter vent on the west side of the burner that was 
part of the pneumatic system which delivered stalks, hulls, and other refuse to the burner. 
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Seed Loading Hopper 

Jackson County, Arkansas 
County and State 

The cotton seed hopper just north of the rear of the gin was used to load cotton seed into trucks after the 
railroad ceased operation in 1940. The structure is a steel, I-beam, exterior frame with diagonal cross braces 
on the east and west ends surrounding two all steel hopper boxes. The hopper boxes are sealed by a 
mechanical door on the bottom of each box. The hopper boxes have pyramidal roofs and two foot wide 
walkway with pipe hand rail. The east and west facades have access doors cut into ·the hoppers for cleaning 
and or repair. The hopper was connected to the gin building by a pneumatic pipe that delivered seed. 

Integrity 

The Weldon Gin Company complex is still remarkably intact. No changes have been made to the gin 
structure itself and all of the ginning machinery is still intact. No changes have been made to the auxiliary 
buildings and none are in a great state of disrepair. The town of Weldon is much the same as when the gin 
was constructed. Agriculture is still the primary occupation of the people of Weldon; though the primary 
crop is now soybean or rice and not cotton. The Weldon Gin Company complex remains a good example of 
a cotton ginning operation in Arkansas's Mississippi Delta. 
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Summary 

Jackson County, Arkansas 
County and State 

The Weldon Gin Company Historic District is being nominated to the National Register of Historic Places 
with local significance under Criterion A for its association with the farming economy of the town of 
Weldon. It is also being nominated under Criterion C as the only example of cotton gin architecture and 

. technology in Weldon. Additionally the Weldon Gin is being nominated in conjunction with the multiple 
property submission, "Get Down the Shovel and the Hoe: Cotton and Rice Farm History and Architecture in 
the Arkansas Delta, 1900-1955." 

Elaboration 

Two very disparate events occurred in the early 1830s that would have an effect on the construction of a 
cotton gin over a century later. In 1831, Alvin McDonald moved from Tennessee to Jackson County, 
Arkansas, and settled near the town of Newport. After establishing himself and purchasing a farm he began 
the operation of a small gin in 1833. Several hundred miles away, Daniel Pratt, settled in Autauga County, 
Alabama, and began the manufacture of cotton gins in his small blacksmith shop. A century later the 
companies that both of these men began would collaborate to build a new gin in Weldon, Arkansas. 1 

Jackson County was newly formed when Alvin McDonald emigrated in 1831 . The sixteen year old came to 
Jackson County with his family and they originally settled northeast of the present town of Newport. 
Settlement of Jackson County began in the early 1800s and the county was formed in 1829 by the Arkansas 
Territorial Legislature. The county was named for Andrew Jackson who was, at that time, President of the 
United States. The predominance oflow, often flooded woodlands and lack ofroads meant the county was 
sparsely settled in those early years. The first census records only 333 inhabitants of the county. There were 
no towns or villages until the establishment of Litchfield as the first county seat.2 

Through the antebellum period, travel and settlement in the county was focused primarily along the White 
and Black Rivers. Towns like Elizabeth and Jacksonport served as the primary economic and social centers 
for the county. As the population grew-1,045 in 1840, 3,086 in 1850, 10,493 in 1860-smaller 
communities were formed and took on some of the social and economic functions of the larger towns.3 

1 Ralph McDonald, Jr. , interview with author, telephone, Little Rock, AR, 7 February 2008 . Willie Redden and Tommy Brown 
eds. "Pratt Gin Factory: Prattville Factory Timeline," by E. T. Waldron available online at 
http://www.pratthistory.com/pratt_gin_factory.htm accessed 11February2008. 
2 Robert D. Craig, "Jackson County," The Encyclopedia of Arkansas History and Culture available online at 
http: //encyclopediaofarkansas.net/ accessed 11 February 2008 . 
3 Ibid. In 1850 Jackson County's population was 2,517 white, 6 free African Americans, and 568 slaves United States Department 
of the Census, The Seventh Census of the United States, 1850 (Washington, DC: Robert Armstrong, 1853), 535; hereafter referred 
to as Seventh Census. 
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County and State 

By the late antebellum period, Alvin McDonald was farming over 900 acres just south of the current town of 
Weldon. Survey maps and federal land records of the period show McDonald paid $1.25 an acre for just 
over 930 acres.4 Like many of his peers in Jackson County, McDonald's farm income was supplemented by 
cotton, not supported by cotton. Antebellum Jackson County farmers primarily raised cattle and swine. 
They grew over 100,000 bushels of com, they grew both sweet and Irish potatoes, but they only ginned 870 
bales of cotton in 1850.5 With such small production of cotton it was more common for each farmer to gin 
his own cotton. Smaller farmers who could not afford to build their own gin depended on their neighbors but 
larger farms and plantations often built and operated ginning facilities. 

It was not until after the Civil War that southern agricultural economy began to shift toward cotton. In 
Arkansas, between 1866 and 1900, the price of cotton per acre dramatically outpaced the price of other 

modi ties. Cotton sold at an average of $22.00 per acre compared to $9 .80 for com. If one figures in the 
st of seed and other non-labor costs-fertilizer, implements, marketing-cotton still brought $18.95 per 

acre. With prices this high many farmers abandoned general farming and worked toward specialized 
farming.6 At the end of the nineteenth century Arkansas farmers had 1,700,578 acres cultivated in cotton~ 
While this was only about eight percent of the total agricultural lands, it represented an increase of sixty-three 
percent in the decade. This amounted to 691,494 bales of cotton harvested in 1889 alone. Jackson County 
farmers had over 33,000 acres planted in cotton and grew 12,594 bales in 1889.7 

With the growth of cotton farming in the latter nineteenth century the demand for ginning of raw cotton also 
grew. It became economical for merchants and farmers to operate commercial cotton gins. It was no longer 
necessary that the gin operation be subsidized by the other farm income. Men like Alvin McDonald and his 
son Alvin McDonald, Jr., were able to convert their farm gin operations to local gin operations. In 1889, 
Goodspeed Publishing Company recorded that there were cotton gins in Tuckerman, Olyphant, Centerville, 
Auvergne, and a seed and oil mill and compress in Newport. Though Goodspeed doesn't note the presence 
of a cotton gin in Weldon-simply noting "etc."-there was a cotton gin operated by Alvin McDonald, Jr., 
and his associates. This gin was a frame structure that was operated by a large steam boiler and engine. 8 

4 Bureau of Land Management, United States of America to Alvin McDonald, Certificate No. 4604 (1 September 1856); United 
States of America to Robert H. McDonald, Certificate No . 5112 (1 September 1856). Bureau of Land Management Records 
available online at http://www.glorecords.blm.gov/PatentSearch/; accessed 11 February 2008. 
5 Seventh Census, 554-58. 
' Gavin Wright, Old South, New South : Revolutions in the Southern Economy Since the Civil War (Baton Rouge: Louisiana State 

niversity Press, 1986), 34-6. 
7 United States Department of the Interior, Census Office, Report on the Statistics of Agriculture in the United States at the 
Eleventh Census: 1890 (Washington: GPO, 1895), 43, 44, 53, 54. 
8 Goodspeed Publishing Company, The Goodspeed Biographical and Historical Memoirs of Northeastern Arkansas (Chicago: The 
Goodspeed Publishing Company, 1889; reprint Easley, SC: The Southern Historical Press, 1978), 838, 839. 
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The Weldon Gin provided ginning services for farmers in t}:le area around Weldon. They shipped their 
finished cotton bales to the compress at Newport on the White & Black River Valley Railway. The White & 
Black River Valley Railway began as the Batesville & Brinkley Railroad in 1882. It ran from Brinkley, 
Arkansas, fifty-six miles to Newport, Arkansas. The railroad connected Tupelo, Weldon, and Auvergne to 
the cotton compress and oil mill in Newport. Later the White & Black River Valley became the wholly 
owned subsidiary of the Chicago, Rock Island, and Pacific Railroad-the Rock Island-which gave them 
access to markets well outside of the Arkansas Mississippi River Delta.9 

The railroad helped increase the ease of shipping and opened new markets for the Weldon Gin Company but 
it didn't have a dramatic effect on the town of Weldon. The Rock Island's, Rock Island Lines List of 
Officers, Station Agents, Etc. February 1, 1910, No. 58 shows the population of the town as being only 125. 
Nineteen years later the same publication shows that the town had grown by only 125 people. 10 

Nevertheless, at the beginning of the twentieth century the town had one hotel, two general stores, two 
groceries, a post office and the Weldon Gin. 11 

The gin continued to operate at the corner of Weldon Avenue and Washington Street throughout the early 
twentieth century. There were ownership changes through the years but the McDonald family always held a 
controlling interest in the gin. Ralph McDonald, son of Alvin McDonald, Jr., operated the gin for many 
years with his brothers. Operation of the gin focused on ginning the cotton brought in by local farmers and 
selling that ginned cotton in bales to the compress in Newport. Additionally, when the Newport Cotton Seed 
Oil Company began operation the Weldon Cotton Gin shipped seed by rail to the seed oil company. 

The Weldon Gin Company operated in this fashion into the 1930s. The McDonald Brothers Company, who 
operated the Weldon Gin Company, watched the cotton markets closely. As the total amount of cotton 
harvested increased and the price of cotton decreased through the 1920s and 1930s they found that their old 
steam powered gin was not capable of making an effective profit. Additionally, the increasing use of the 
mechanical cotton picker placed additional ginning demand on the Weldon Gin. 

9 The White & Black River Railway was incorporated to take possession of and construct additional trackage for the Batesville & 
Brinkley Railroad in 1890. In 1894, the White & Black River Railway was leased to the Choctaw, Oklahoma, & Gulf Railroad for 
eighty years. In 1904, the Choctaw, Oklahoma, & Gulf was purchased by the Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Railroad Company. 
See Gene Hull, "White & Black River Valley Railway," Arkansas Railroader 38, no. 3 (March 2007): 2-7. 
1° Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Railroad Company, Rock Island Lines List of Officers, Station Agents, Etc. February 1, 1910, 
No. 58 (Chicago: privately printed, 1910), 261. Available online at Rock Island Technical Society, 
http: //faculty.simpson.edu/RITS/www/ accessed 24 January 2008. Also General Roster of Officers, Agents, Attorneys, Surgeons, 
Stations, Structures, Mileage, Connections, Clearances, Etc., May 1, 1929, No. 67 (Chicago: privately printed, 1929), 296. 
Available online at Rock Island Technical Society, http://faculty.simpson.edu/RITS/www/ accessed 24 January 2008 . 
11 Goodspeed, 839. 
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The increasing use of mechanical pickers and tractors increased the amount of cotton to gin and shortened the 
amount of time in which to gin that cotton. Arkansas Power & Light and the Rural Electrification Act 
brought electricity to Weldon in the late 1930s. With increased demand and the possibility of gaining 
modem efficiencies through electrification and new technology, the McDonald Brothers hired the 
Continental Gin Company to rebuild the gin at W eldon. 12 

Continental Gin Company began life as six different companies. These comp~nies were smaller gin 
manufacturers in Dallas, Texas; Prattville, Birmingham, and Avondale, Alabama; Bridgewater, 
Massachusetts; and Atlanta, Georgia. One of these companies was the Daniel Pratt Gin Company. Founded 
in 1833 by Daniel Pratt, the Daniel Pratt Gin Company operated a significant factory in Prattville, Alabama. 
In 1900, the six companies-Daniel Pratt Gin Company, Munger Improved Cotton Machine Manufacturing 
Company, Smith Sons Gin & Machine Company, Winship Machine Company, Eagle Cotton Gin Company, 
and the Northington-Munger-Pratt Company-combined to become the Continental Gin Company. Soon the 

mpany's Munger and Pratt designed gins became their most popular gins. The combination of companies 
owed for the sale of complete ginning outfits from gin to elevator, pneumatic system to compress. 13 

By 1929, the Continental Gin Company was offering a one-story gin outfit made completely of steel. This 
new design allowed for pumps, motors, engines, and fans to be placed away from the gins themselves. This 
greatly reduced the maintenance on these items and increased the operational efficiencies of gins equipped 
with the new technology. The new all steel gin combined with combination huller-extractor-feeder machines 
that the company began making in 1934 presented gin operators with greatly advanced technology. Gin 
operators could increase production, reduce maintenance, and reduce operating costs with the new ginning 
system. 14 

It was this new system that the McDonald Brothers had installed in the Weldon Gin in 1939. The 
Continental Gin Company was contracted to build the gin building and install the ginning equipment. This 
included the battery of gins, driers, cleaners, feeder-extractors, fans, and motors and drive systems. One of 
the unique features of the Weldon Gin Company is the refuse burner. Installed during the 1939 
reconstruction of the gin, the refuse burner dealt with the several thousands of pounds of foreign material 
removed by the cleaning process. The new facility had three gins powered by a 175 horsepower electric 
motor. 

'
2 For a discussion of the operation of cotton gins and the influence of mechanical pickers see Department of Agriculture, 
conomics Research Service, Agricultural Economic Report No. 116 Economic Aspects of Cotton Gin Operations .. .. MidSouth, 

West Texas, Far West prepared by Charles A Wilmot, et al. (July 1967). 
13 James F. Sulzby, Jr. ed. "The Story of the Continental Gin Company: 1900-1952" by Algeron L. Smith available online at 
http://www.pratthistory.com/cgc_lst_26_years.htm accessed 11February2008. 
14 Sulzby ed., http://www.pratthistory.com/cgc _2nd_ 26 _years .htrn accessed 11 February 2008 . 
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These three gins were capable of six to eight bales of cotton per hour and the gin produced about 3,000 bales 
per season. 15 

Though the McDonald Brothers were able to recover from the great depression and to make a substantial 
investment in new technology, the cotton economy of the county had taken severe blow. The White & Black 
River Valley branch of the Rock Island Railroad was no longer profitable and in 1940 ceased operation. The 
railroad lines were removed and the Weldon Gin Company was now dependent on trucks to get its products 
to the compress and seed oil factory. This required the installation of a seed hopper to load truck trailers for 
delivery to the seed oil company in Newport. 

Business remained steady through the 1940s, 1950s and 1960s because acreage controls set by the federal 
government insured a steady, though at times, small harvest each year. During this same period however, 
rice continued to become more valuable per acre than cotton. Harvest yields per acre of rice or soybeans 
were greater than cotton and brought the farmer more money. Gradually the amount of cotton grown by 
Jackson County farmers decreased and the acreage of rice and soybeans increased. The complete removal of 
acreage controls in 1974 continued to.reduce cotton harvests. By 1980, the Weldon Gin Company was 
producing only 1,000 bales a season, well below the capacity of the gins and well below previous years. 
Faced with such small production the Weldon Gin Company no longer felt it was profitable to operate their 
gin.16 

Statement of Significance 

The Weldon Gin Company is Weldon's only gin and represents the height of mid-twentieth century ginning 
technology. The company has a long history iri the community of Weldon. The Weldon Gin Company 
complex is the most intact gin complex in Jackson County. The Weldon Gin Company Historic District is 
being nominated to the National Register of Historic Places with local significance under Criterion A for its 
association with the farming economy of the town of Weldon. It is also being nominated under Criterion C 
as the only example of cotton gin architecture and technology in Weldon. Additionally the Weldon Gin is 
being nominated in conjunction with the multiple property submission, "Get Down the Shovel and the Hoe: 
Cotton and Rice Farm History and Architecture in the Arkansas Delta, 1900-1955." 

15 McDonald, telephone conversation. 
16 McDonald, telephone conversation. 
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Lots 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 of Block 6 of the Original Town of Weldon, being a portion of Section 32, Township 
10 North, Range 2 West. 

Boundary Justification 

The above description consists of all the land historically associated with the Weldon Gin Company. 
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